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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERNDISTRICT OF OHIO
WESTERN DIVISION AT DAYTON
Tammy Hatmaker, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

V. Case No. 3:17-cv-146
Judge Thomas M. Rose

PJ Ohio, LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

ENTRY AND ORDER DENYING MOTION TO DISMISS
FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM. ECF 94.

Pending before the Court is Defendants MotmDismiss Complaint for Failure to State
a Claim. (ECF 94). The Motion will be denied.
l. Background
This is a wage and hour case brought on lbelh@izza delivery drivers who work for
Papa John's franchisees. Defendants owhaperate 73 Papa John'’s locations in Ohio,
Nevada, and North Carolina. See Third Ameh@emplaint, ECF 84, §0, citing Defendants’
website, http://bldbrands.com/?page_id=58. Plaintiffs claim Defendants pay their drivers at—or
close to—minimum wage. The des use their own cars to compldtiveries. Plaintiffs allege
the cars cost money to purchase, maintaid,@erate. Plaintiffs allege that because
Defendants have not paid the drivers their acMpenses or the IRS standard business mileage

rate, Defendants have failed to pay the de\arleast minimum wage. See, e.g., 29 C.F.R. §
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531.35; see also DOL Handbook 8§ 30c15(a). Plairdlfégge that Defendants violate the Fair
Labor Standards Act and state wage and haus lay under-reimbursing the delivery drivers.
Defendants have moved to dismiss, assertingRlaantiffs fail to state a claim against them.
ECF 94.

. Standard

To survive a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, Ptdfa only have to allegéacts that “state a
claim to relief that is plausible on its face,” andtthf accepted as true, are sufficient to “raise a
right to relief abovehe speculative levelBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).
The Court must “construe the complaint in tlghtimost favorable to the plaintiff, accept its
allegations as true, and draw all reasonatfrences in favor of the plaintiffDirecTV, Inc. v.
Treesh 487 F.3d 471, 476 (6th Cir. 2007). Thus, dssal is appropriate only if “it appears
beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no sdtots in support of his claim which would
entitle him to relief."Guzman v. U.S. Dep’t of Children’s Sen&/9 F.3d 425, 429 (6th Cir.
2012).

Under modern federal pleading standards, a complaint must contain “a short and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleadentgled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). It
need not set down in ddtall the particularities of a plaiiff's claim against a defendant, but
must give the defendant faiptice of what the claim is, and the grounds upon which it rests.
Geary v. Green Tree Servicing, LLo. 2:14-cv-522, 2015 WL 1286347, *3 (S.D. Ohio Mar.
20, 2015).

[Il1.  Motion to Dismiss

A. Primary Employer



Defendants’ first argument is that Plaintiffgilure to identify a single employer who is
the “primary employer” is fatal to the complaint. The FLSA, however, does not impose such a
pleading requirement. The FLSA placesimum wage and overtime obligations on
“employers.” See 29 U.S.C. § 206 (“Every emplogieall pay to each of his employees...”) and
see 29 U.S.C. 8§ 207 (“...no employer shall employ any of his employees * * * for a workweek
longer than forty hours unless such employeeives compensation...”). The FLSA defines
“employer” to “include[] any person acting directly iodirectly in the interest of an employer in
relation to an employee...” 29 U.S.C. § 203(d)[M]ore than one ‘employer’ can be
simultaneously responsible for FLSA obligationsegley v. Higgins19 F.3d 1126, 1131 (6th
Cir. 1994). There is no “primary employer” ‘@irect employer” designation in the FLSA’s
definitions section.

Under the FLSA, a person is either an eygpl or they are not. 29 U.S.C. § 203(d). The
cases upon which Defendants ratg not to the contraryCavallaro v. 5 UMass Mem.
Healthcare, Inc 678 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2012) found tha¢ #tamployees did not name a “direct
employer” and that, therefore, the complaint ddug dismissed as the employees did not name
anyone who could be an employer. 678 F.3d at 9; sed/l@lemdez-Fernandez v. Special Care
Pharmacy Servs., IndNo. 11-cv-1662, 2012 WL 4813528, at(@.P.R. Oct. 10, 2012) (“It is
clear from the foregoing that the RiGircuit and the district court i@avallarorequired only
that the complaint contain well-pleaded allegas that, taken as true, established an
employment relationship betwepfaintiffs and defendants.”).

Nakahata v. N.Y. Presbyterian Healthcare Sys., [fz3 F.3d 192 (2nd Cir. 2013) has

the same holding &avallara 723 F.3d at 201. The duty teepd a “direct employer” is



inapplicable when a “single employer”‘@ingle integrated enterprise” is allegddhielman v.
MF Global Hidgs. Ltd.No. 13-cv-07218, 2014 WL 4054281 *6t(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 2014).
In Thielman the district court reviewg a bankruptcy court applying the same requirement in a
WARN case held that the bankruptcy coufitgling is “not grounded in the law” because
“[n]either the standard as detth in DOL regulations nor gncase applying the single employer
doctrine, whether under WARN another statute, requires aipliff to plead a nominal or
immediate employer as a prerequisite to plegthat the defendant®nstitute a single
employer.” Id.

Moreover,in Nakahata v. N.Y.-Presbyterian Healthcare Sys., Itlte plaintiffs ... did
not rely in their pleadings on the singlmployer doctrine.” Id., 2014 WL 4054281 at *6 n.2.
Here, Plaintiffs expresglallege that “Defendants form aagie employer or a single integrated
enterprise.” ECF 84, at 6, 11 42-4Plaintiffs also allege thd2efendants are joint employers
and each, in their own right, “employers,” unttee FLSA. So long as Plaintiffs have
sufficiently alleged a person or entity is an emptoyaintiffs have pled a viable complaint.
B. Elements of the Integrated Enterprise and Joint Employer Theories

Defendants next assert tliaintiffs plead nothing moréan a formulaic recitation of
the elements of the integrated enterprise j@int employer theories. A joint employment
relationship is generally found:

(1) Where there is an arrangement between employers to share the
employee’s services, as for example, to interchange employees; or

(2) Where one employer is actingelitly or indirectly in the
interest of the other employerr(@mployers) in relation to the
employee; or

(3) Where the employers are not completely disassociated with
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respect to the employment oparticular employee and may be

deemed to share control of themayee, directly or indirectly, by

reason of the fact that one emplogentrols, is controlled by, or is

under common control witthe other employer.
29 C.F.R. 791.2(b). Id. Under the FLSA, “Emtese” means “the related activities performed
(either through unified opeiah or common control) by amyerson or persons for a common
business purpose...” 29 U.S.C. § 203(r)(1).

Plaintiffs allege that fendants together own and optera chain of Papa John’s
restaurants. ECF 84, 1 2, 156. Plaintiffs alkgalthat Defendants operate the Papa John’s
restaurant chain from the same sharedeffind headquarters. Id. at {1 43, 51, 59, 69, 82, 90,
97. Plaintiffs next allege that Defend&itD Brands, LLC “owns and operates” Defendant
Serazen, LLC, id. at T 72, and that Defendarasesbontrol of Plaintiffsemployment. Id. at |
48, 49, 55, 65, 78, 85, 93, 100. Plaintiffs plead thatitdividuals substarally control all of
the Defendant entities: Doug Pak, id. at 1 103-105, 106-121, 125, 127-132, 134-138, 140; and
Darcie Mangus. See id. at 11 144-150, 152-153, Maintiffs allegethat Defendants
maintained the same policies and practaealenged in this cas|d. at 11 15, 244, 247.

These allegations are sufficient to supptatms of “single employer” and “joint
employer” liability. Creech v. P.J. Wichita, LLCNo. 16-2312-JAR-GEB, 2016 WL 4702376, at
*3—4 (D. Kan. Sept. 8, 2016) (involving multiple busss entities operating a different chain of
Papa John’s restaurants).

C. Claim Against the Individual Defendants

Next, Defendants assert Pldifst fail to plead individual kbility. The Sixth Circuit has
recognized that “a corporate officer who hasrapenal control of theorporation’s covered
enterprise is an ‘employer under theJA, along with the corporation itself.United States
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Dep’t. of Labor v. Cole Enters., Ingdhe 62 F.3d 775, 778 (6th Cir. 1995). “One who is the
chief executive officer of a corporation, hasgngficant ownership interest in it, controls
significant functions of the busess, and determines salarge®l makes hiring decisions has
operational control and qualifies as amf@oyer’ for purposes of the FLSA.” Id.

Plaintiff has sufficiently pleaded facts shog that Defendant Doug Pak qualifies as an
“employer” under the Sixth Circuit’s test. Plaffgi allegations includeliegations that: Pak is
the “owner” and “operator” of all of thhDefendant entities, ECF 84, 1 103, 104, 106, 107, 110,
112, 113, 115, 116, 119, 121, 128-138; that Pak “operatiesf the Defendant entities, 1d., 1
103, 125; that Pak is the chiefemutive officer of all of thé®efendant entities, Id., 105, 108,
109, 111, 114, 117, 120, 127, 128, 128- 138; that Ptde ikchairman” of Defendant BLD
Brands, LLC. Id., § 127; that Pak is “the mamagmember of PJ Las Vegas, LLC.” Id.,  118;
that, as “owner and CEO” of the Defendartitess, Pak holds “finacial control over the
operations at each of the named corporate defesdad., 128, controlssignificant aspect[s]
of the Papa John’s restaurants’ day to dayadpns,” Id.,  129; “combls Defendants’ pay
policies,” Id., T 130, controls gsonnel and payroll decisioat the Papa John’s Pizza
restaurants, including but not limited to influereéelelivery driver pay,” Id., § 131; “hires, fires
and disciplines employees, including Plaintdfsd other delivery drivers,” Id., § 132, “transfers
the assets and liabilities ehch of the named corporate defendants,” Id., § 134, “declared
bankruptcy on behalf of each of the namerpoaate defendants,” Id., I 135; “entered into
contracts on behalf of eachtbie named corporate defendants,” Id., § 136; “closed, shut down,
and/or sfold] each of the named corpoidaéendants,” Id., {1 137, controlled “the overall

direction of each of the named corporate ddénts and was ultimately responsible for their



operations.” Id., 1 138, and “influences ... how #apa John’s Pizza restaurants can run more
profitably and efficiently.” Id., 1 140.

Plaintiff has also sufficiently pleadeddts showing that Defendant Darcie Mangus
qualifies as an “employer” under the Sixth Circuiést because she is “a corporate officer who
has operational control of therporation’s covered enterpriggnd] is an ‘employer under the
FLSA, along with the corporation itself.Cole Enters.62 F.3d at 778. Plaintiff alleges that:
Mangus is the chief operatindfiocer of Defendant Serazehl.C, ECF 84, at 11 141, 147-154;
that “... Mangus operates and controls the Ded@ndorporations from their headquarters at
20377 SW Acacia Street, 2nd Floor, Newport Bg&2A 92660,” Id., T 144; that “Mangus is
responsible for overseeing opgoas, strategic business pitang, driving sales growth and
profitability at Serazen,” Id., §45; that “Mangus directly oversettge operations of the Papa
John’s Pizza restaurants,” 1§.,146; that “...Mangus has h&dancial control over the
operations at each of the named corporate defesdad.,  147; that “... Mangus has a role in
significant aspects of the Papa John’s Pizzauveanhts’ day to day operations.” Id., 1 148;
“...Mangus has had control over Defendamay policies.” Id.,  149; “...Mangus has had
power over personnel and payroll decisionthatPapa John’s Pizza restaurants, including
influence of delivery driver pay,” Id., 1 150zith*...Mangus has had the power to transfer the
assets and liabilities of each of the namegamate defendants,” Id., { 25that “... Mangus has
had the power to enter into camtts on behalf of eadf the named corporate defendants,” Id., I
153; that “... Mangus had authority over the @ledirection of each ofhe named corporate
entities,” Id., 1 154; and that “... Mangusshiaad influence over how the Papa John’s Pizza

restaurants could run more prafly and efficiently.” Id., { 155.



The Amended Complaint alleges the indual defendants hagufficient operational
control to violate wage and hour laws. SEEF 84. “[A]llegations against the Defendants
collectively apply equally to fidividually named defendantsRoman v. Guapos lll, Inc970
F. Supp. 2d 407, 417 (D. Md. 2013). Even where “Plaintiffs do not make any specific
allegations with respect to actions undertalgiindividual defendantsh their individual
capacities,” allegations against Defendants colleltjV'state a plausible claim for relief that
[individual defendants] are indidually liable as ‘employergor violating the overtime and
minimum wage provisions of the 14 FLSA..."”. Iddere, Plaintiffs pleaded both individual and
collective allegations, either of which is sufficient to meet Plaintiffs’ pleading burden.

In the Sixth Circuit, being the “top maat a corporation that functions for an
individual’s profit is sufficiemto impose FLSA liabilityDole v. Elliott Travel & Tours, Ing.

942 F.2d 962, 966 (6th Cir. 1991). This is truerewhen an individual employer alleges that
other, lower members of management madetdalay operational decisions. Id. (affirming
summary judgment in favor of the employee).aiRtiffs have alleged sufficient facts to meet
the Sixth Circuit’s test.

D. Stating a Claim Under Ohio Revised Code §2307.60

Defendants seek to dismiss Count IMled Amended Complaint, asserting that a
criminal conviction is required before liaityl attaches under Ohio Revised Code § 2307.60.
The statute’s language and recent cases dsuppiort Defendants’ interpretation. The Ohio
Supreme Court examined Ohio Revised Code § 2307.60 within the context of a case where the
plaintiff alleged criminahcts, but not convictiondacobsen v. Kaforey016-Ohio8434 (2016).

“Revised Code § 2307.60(A)(1), by its plain andmbauous terms, creates a statutory cause of



action for damages resulting from any crimiael.” Id. at § 10. The Court did not condition
liability under Ohio Revised @le § 2307.60 on a conviction; but on an act. “Defendant argues
that Plaintiff cannot seek civiecovery for an alleged uncharged criminal act. However, the
plain language of Ohio Revised Code § 2307.6W/{f@ction for damages for criminal act’)
provides otherwise.Kimber Baldwin Designs, LLC v. Silv Commc'ns,. [i225 F. Supp. 3d 670,
679 (S.D. Ohio 2016) (Black, J.). Ohiorsed Code 8§ 2307.60’'s langg&acontrols—only a
criminal act must be k#ged, not a conviction.
E. Stating a Claim Under the North Carolina Wage and Hour Act
Finally, Defendants assert that Counts VI &iidof the Amended Complaint fail to state
a claim under North Carolina law. Plaintiissert Count VI under North Carolina General
Statute § 95- 25.6 and Count VII under Narolina General Statute § 95-25.8. ECF 84, 11
338-343 . Count VI seeks to recover for gddly late job-expense reimbursement dadacto
deductions, with damages, andut VIl seeks to recover alledjg unlawful deductions from
wages, along with associated damages. Idfemants rely on the exemption set forth in North
Carolina General Statute 8§ 95-25.14(a)(1)(b).
But, by its express terms, that exemptoiy bars claims brought pursuant to N.C. Gen.

Stat. §8 95- 25.3, 95-25.4, 95-25.5 and 95-25.15(b)§8@5-25.6 or 95-25.87. Specifically,
the exemption cited by Defendants provides:

The provisions of G.S. 985.3 (Minimum Wage), G.S. 95-25.4

(Overtime), and G.S. 95-25.5 ¢¥ith Employment), and the

provisions of G.S. 95-25.15 (Recdfeeping) as they relate to

these exemptions, do not apply to:

(1) Any person employed in an enterprise engaged in commerce or

in the production of goods for commerce as defined in the Fair
Labor Standards Act: * * *



(b) Notwithstanding the abovany employee other than a

learner, apprentice, studeat,handicapped worker as

defined in the Fair Labor Standards Act who is not

otherwise exempt under the otlpgovisions of this section,

and for whom the applicable minimum wage under the Fair

Labor Standards Act is less than the minimum wage

provided in G.S. 95-25.3, is nexempt from the provisions

of G.S. 95-25.3 or G.S. 95-2514...
N.C. Gen. Stat. 85-25.14(a)(1)(b).

Plaintiffs have not asserted a claim paust to North Carolin&eneral Statute 88 95-

25.3, 95-25.4, 95-25.5 or 95-25.15(b). Thus, this exemption fails to apphLuBeeReyes v.
RFI Constr., LLC109 F. Supp. 3d 744, 752-53 (M.D.N.C. Jun. 1, 2015) (recognizing that N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 95-25.14(a)(1)(b) does not prohilaines under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.6).
Chandler v. Cheesecake Factory Rests., R@08 U.C. App. LEXIS16, *9-10 (N.C. Ct. App.
Mar. 18, 2008), is inappositeChandlerdisallowed a claim unddN.C. Gen. Stat. 8§ 95-25.6
because it required a reviewNbrth Carolina’s Minimum wagstatute (N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-
25.3(f)), one of the specificalgnumerated statutes subjecthie exemption set forth in N.C.
Gen. Stat. 95-25.14(a). 2008 U.C. App. LEXIBS, *9-10 (N.C. CtApp. Mar. 18, 2008).
Plaintiffs’ North Carolina claimslo not require consideration 895-25.3, or any of the other
state statutes unavailable pursuanN.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.83(1)(b). Both Count VI and
VII depend on determining whether deductians unlawful under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.8, not
on determining whether minimum wage was paid under 8 95-25.3, whether overtime was paid
under 8§ 95-25.4, whether unlawful youth employment occurred under 8§ 95-25.5, or whether

recordkeeping violationscourred under 8§ 95-25.15.

Moreover, for purposes of North Caroli@&neral Statute 8§ 95-25.6, North Carolina law

10



defines a recoverable “wages” to include Kspay, vacation pay, severance pay, commissions,
bonuses, and other amounts promised when tipéoger has a policy or a practice of making
such payments.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-2(16). rfilés have alleged that Defendants maintain a
“reimbursement policy.” See, e.g., ECF 8429%, 252(g), 281(g), 300. Plaintiffs’ claim under
8 95-25.6 is that on payment of “other amountsypsed when the employer has a policy or a
practice of making such payments.” Sit@gandler federal courts in North Carolina have
permitted claims seeking to recovk factodeductions resultinffom unreimbursed job
expenses pursuant to both N.CnG8tat. 88§ 95-25.6 and 95-25.8. See also, @axiola v.
Williams Seafood of Arapahoe, In€76 F.Supp.2d 117, 120, 131-132 (E.D.N.C. Mar. 1, 2011);
Garcia v. Frog Island Seafood, In6&44 F.Supp.2d 696, 710, 713-14, 722 (E.D.N.C. 2009).
Those North Carolina claims were permitted etrerugh the district courtecognized that the
FLSA also applied. Id.
1. Conclusion

Because Plaintiffs have alleged an integratetgrprise and a joint employer theory, they
are not required to identifydirect employer, much lesgpaimary employer; and because
Plaintiffs have alleged thatehindividual defendantare corporate officers who have operational
control of the corporation’sovered enterprise, they hapkeaded an action against the
individual defendants; and becal3aintiffs have stated causesaction under Ohio and North
Carolina law, Defendants Motion to Dismiss Conmtior Failure to State a Claim, ECF 94, is
DENIED. DONE andORDERED in Dayton, Ohio, this Tuesday, March 26, 2019.

s/Thomas M. Rose

THOMAS M. ROSE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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